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I. INTRODUCTION 

“Washington State has a clear public policy of protecting domestic 

violence survivors and their children and holding domestic violence 

perpetrators accountable.”1 Here, the Father is a domestic violence 

perpetrator who has no completed treatment. Despite this he has sole 

decision-making and is the children’s primary residential parent. Under 

these circumstances, should this Court accept review, re-emphasize 

this State’s dedication to domestic violence survivors, correct the errors, 

and return the children to a home where there is no domestic violence?       

II. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY 

Petitioner JESSICA BODGE (“Mother”) is the Appellant at the Court 

of Appeals and the Petitioner at the trial. 

III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED 

Mother requests the Washington Supreme Court review the 

Washington State Court of Appeals Unpublished Opinion in Matter of 

Marriage of Bodge, 76954-5-I, 2018 WL 4215618, (Wash. Ct. App. 

Sept. 4, 2018), opinion withdrawn and superseded on reh'g in part 

sub nom. Bodge & Bodge, 76954-5-I, 2018 WL 6181740 (Wash. Ct. 

App. Nov. 26, 2018) (the “Opinion”). 

                                                 
1 Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 200, 221, 193 P.3d 128, 13 
(2008) 
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IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Whether the Opinion violated Washington’s public policy, RCW 

26.09.191(1) and (2) by failing to impose mandatory limitations on 

decision making, dispute resolution and the perpetrator’s residential 

time with the minor children.     

B. Whether the Opinion violated public policy when allowing the trial 

court to lift a domestic violence finding or restriction toward the 

perpetrator’s victim.        

C. Whether the Opinion is contrary to RAP 7.2(a), (c) and (e) when 

it allowed the trial court to modify its May 2017 final decisions that were 

being reviewed by the Court of Appeals. 

D. Whether the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in denying 

Mother’s request for attorney fees when Father did not contest an 

award of appellate attorney fees and where the survivor Mother makes 

$2,304 net per month and the Father makes $34,907.39 per month in 

net income.   

V.  CASE STATEMENT 

A GAL was appointed in the original marital dissolution action. 

The GAL recommended that Mother be the children’s primary 

parent and that she have sole major decision-making because the 
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Father had a history of engaging in acts of domestic violence. Trial 

Exhibit 110 (GAL Report), Pg. 1, ln 25-28.   

The GAL concluded that “Mother and Father should not be 

around each other until each of them learns how to work with each 

other.” GAL Report, Pg. 16, ln 19-20.2 

As a result of the GAL Report the Final Parenting Plan found 

and concluded that he “has engaged in…A history of domestic 

violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1).” CP 465-476, ¶2.1. It 

named Mother the primary residential parent of the parties’ three 

minor children, and the Father was initially allowed only supervised 

residential time that gradually increased and became unsupervised 

in 3 phases. ¶¶3.2-3.8 and 3.13. Mother was also awarded sole 

                                                 
2 The bases for the GAL’s recommendations were set forth in her 
report.  The GAL interviewed the parties and when Father 
described a 2010 domestic violence incident, for which he was 
arrested, he admitted to kicking Mother in the rear several times.  
As a result, he had to attend a DV batterer’s treatment program.  
He started at Phoenix Counseling, but missed too many sessions 
and had to change to Evergreen Counseling.  GAL Report Pg. 9, ln 
15-210.  When the GAL asked Father to submit his personal 
information form, he discussed his version of events that happened 
on the night he was arrested. The GAL letter described Father’s 
version of events as “appalling” and she determined “it is clear 
[Father] needs much more therapy before he understands how his 
behaviors impact the family.” GAL Report, Pg. 14, ln 22-26. In 
addition to the Father’s domestic violence on the Mother, the 
children reported that the Father “yells at them, leaves marks, and 
has not learned how to deal with his anger toward them.” GAL 
Report, Pg. 18, ln 5-7. 
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major decision-making over the children. ¶¶4.2, 4.6, 4.7, and 4.8. 

Paragraph 4.3 stated “A limitation on the other parent’s decision 

making authority is mandated by RCW 26.09.191.”   

 On June 16, 2016 Mother filed a Notice of Intended 

Relocation.  Father timely objected on June 14, 2016. CP 2171-

2388. Trial was held between January and March 2017 and lasted 

12 ½ days.  On April 14, 2017, the trial judge issued his 

Memorandum Decision Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

(“Memorandum”).CP 485-500. The trial judge found,  

Mother has been the primary parent and the sole decision-
maker for the children for the last 7 years. Memorandum, Pg. 
3. 

Mother spends the majority of her time caring for the 
children.  She has guided their education with some 
success: the children are Presidential Scholars and all three 
of them are at least two years ahead of where they should 
be academically.  They are in Honors classes, and all three 
have all been student of the month each year for the last 
three years. Id. 

Mother has the children participate in extracurricular 
activities: swimming lessons, robotic and engineering 
classes, and foreign language.  With AvaRose, in particular, 
acting and modeling audition, and acting classes. AvaRose 
entered the “America’s Got Talent” competition last month in 
California. Id. 

In contrast to the mother, the evidence shows that Father 
has very limited involvement with the children. Father 
promotes scouts and soccer, which he sees as “his 
activities” but he shows little interest in music, school 
awards, performances, pageants, school awards, 
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performances, school projects, etc.  Some of the limitations 
can be attributed to Mothers’ over-zealous efforts at control. 
But not all of it. Id. 

Testimony at court showed that he did not attempt to support 
his daughter at America’s Got Talent.  This is a very 
significant event, even if you are anti-pageant. It is the 
court’s view that he should have been there to support his 
daughter: regardless of his feelings about pageants, his ex-
wife or maternal grandparents. His interest level in this 
event, was so low that in-court while testifying the court had 
to remind him about the name of the competition.  He just 
thought of it as another pageant. This event is indicative of 
Father’s general attitude and tendency to allow conflict with 
the mother to become an issues with the children. Id.     

Given Father’s limited involvement with the children, 
disrupting the contact between the father and the children 
would not be as detrimental as disrupting the contact 
between the mother and the children.  Memorandum pps. 3-
4. 

Father is currently subject to a limiting factor in the final 
parenting plan based on a domestic violence incident from 
2010 – 7 years ago. Memorandum, Pg. 4 referencing, f.n.5 
that describes domestic violence acts from 2006-2014 in 
detail:3 

As such, this Court finds, in the best interest of the children, 
that Father is no longer a threat to the children in compliance 
with and as required by RCW 26.09.191(2)(n). 
Memorandum, Pg. 5 

Both sides agree that all three children are bright, fairly well 
adjusted and doing well in school…Andre, the eldest, just 
won the presidential award for academics and the 
presidential award for physical fitness, all three of the 
children have been awarded student of the month, and 

                                                 
3 Appellant requests this Court review footnote 5 in the Memorandum Findings of 

Fact in detail as it details multiple instances of domestic violence and abuse by 

Father.   
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AvaRose will be entering 3rd grade in the fall as a 7 year-old. 
Andre took middle school math classes while in elementary 
school, and his testing is in the 95% range.  AvaRose is in 
2nd grade now and is at a 5th grade reading level.  All the 
children tested in the top 95% tile of their map tests.  Andre 
received all A’s on his report card with excellent comments, 
and Johan had AvaRose received near perfect report cards. 

If mother’s relocation with the children is prevented then the 
children will be negatively impacted because she would not 
have the support structure she needs in order to spend the 
time necessary to maintain this thriving group of children. 
(Emphasis added).  Memorandum, Pg. 6 

In addition, as a condition of custody, Mother will be required 
to undergo a psychological evaluation and follow the 
recommendations for treatment.  In the course of this 
evaluation all collaterals who participated at trial shall be 
reviewed. (Emphasis added). Mother shall comply with a 
discrete time frame set by the court, And if there is failure 
to comply, custody will change to the Father. (Emphasis 
in original), Memorandum Pg. 10. 

This court found above that with respect to the children in 
this mater, lifting the .191 restrictions for domestic violence is 
warranted,  

And these assertions tend to sound true when coupled with 
the remarks made in Father’s deposition conducted on 
January 4, 2017 [emphasis in original] (where he denies 
domestic violence of any kind; states that the incident where 
he struck her as “Self defense;” states also that “I was 
attacked by [Mother] and I had to defend to get her away 
from me;” and when asked if he committed domestic 
violence equivocates and says, “the State of Washington 
does not think I committed domestic violence because the 
criminal matter was dismissed”). Such deposition testimony 
either reflects a drastic minimization of past bad behavior or 
it reflects a flat rejection of any responsibility for past 
domestic violence and a complete misunderstanding of any 
education received. 
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As such , the .191 limiting factor for domestic violence, 
although lifted for the children, will remain in place as it 
applies to the Mother. And if Father desires to have this 
limitation excised from the parenting plan, the he must 
submit to reevaluation for domestic violence and follow 
any new recommendations for further treatment. 
(Emphasis in original). Memorandum pps. 11-12.      

Because a limiting factor is imposed on Mother she shall no 
longer have sole decision-making. The parent’s (sic) will 
exercise joint decision-making on all matters. Memorandum, 
Pg. 12.   

The trial court entered a Final Order and Findings on Objection 

about Moving with Children and Petition about Changing a 

Parenting/Custody Order (Relocation), which attached the trial 

court’s Memorandum (“Relocation Order”) (CP 477-500), and it also 

entered a Final Parenting Plan. CP 465-476 (“2017 Relocation 

Parenting Plan”)  

 In the Relocation Order the trial judge concluded that Father 

had not met his burden to overcome the relocation presumption 

and that Mother could relocate with the children. Relocation Order, 

Pg. 2. ¶¶ 4 and 5. The trial court conditioned the children’s 

relocation with Mother upon Mother obtaining a psychological 

evaluation. Relocation Order pps. 7-8, ¶11. It also concluded that 

that “lifting the .191 restriction for domestic violence against the 

father is warranted, however, the Court finds that the .191 limiting 

factor for domestic violence shall remain in place as it applies to the 
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mother.” It then allowed Father to “have this limitation excised 

from the parenting plan, then he must submit to re-evaluation 

for domestic violence and follow any new recommendations 

for further treatment.” ¶10. Finally, it allowed joint decision-

making because it found Mother had engaged in abusive use of 

conflict. Id.     

 The 2017 Relocation Parenting Plan did not list Father’s 

engaging in a history of acts of domestic violence as a mandatory 

limitation under subsection (a); rather it listed it as a discretionary 

limitation under subsection (b). In the same section, it found Mother 

engaged in abusive use of conflict. Despite having made a 

domestic violence finding the trial court lifted the restriction against 

the Father because it “does not interfere with his ability to parent.” 

¶11. It also allowed joint decision making and alternative dispute 

resolution prior to either party initiating court action. Id.    

 Mother filed a Notice of Appeal on June 8, 2017. In her 

Notice of Appeal she sought to have the trial court’s Memorandum, 

Relocation Order, and the 2017 Parenting Plan reviewed. This 

Court accepted review and issued a perfection letter on June 16, 

2017. CP 162-164.  
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 Mother tried to comply with the trial court’s Relocation Order 

and 2017 Relocation Parenting Plan after they were entered. She 

sought and found Dr. JoAnne Solchany, a person capable of 

performing a psychological evaluation.4 On July 14, 2017, the court 

found Dr. Solchany’s report was insufficient and immediately 

named the Father as the children’s primary residential parent. CP 

15-16.   

In August 2017, the parties were back before the trial court 

seeking to enter a new permanent parenting plan after the trial 

court changed custody.  Mother proposed a parenting plan that 

gave her what the court had previously ordered in the 2017 

Relocation Parenting Plan if she did not strictly comply with the trial 

court’s psychological evaluation requirement.  CP 3528-3593.   

Father, on the other hand, requested Mother have supervised visits 

for up to 10 hours per week provided Mother exercised those visits 

in his home.  CP 3601-3613.  The Court adopted the Father’s 

                                                 
4 Dr. Solchany is a Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner, Psychotherapist, and Infant 
Mental Health Specialist.  She has a Ph.D. in Parent-Child Relationships through 
the School of Nursing. She provides therapy, prescribes and manages 
medications, and provides parent-child relationship evaluations, attachment 
evaluations, and parenting evaluations. She has been in practice over 25 years 
and has performed over 400 such evaluations.  She has also contracted with 
DCFA, The Defenders Association and Federal Defenders to provide psychiatric 
evaluations on a regular basis. She has served as an Expert Witness for issues 
related to the psychological evaluations.  CP 48. 
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proposed parenting plan with minor revisions.  VRP Vol. XV and CP 

3350-3368.   

Over one month later, the Court actually signed Father’s 

proposed parenting plan.  CP 3350-3368. The proposed parenting 

plan limited Mother’s contact with the children to just 10 hours of 

supervised visits per week and required Mother to exercise her 

visits in her perpetrator’s home. Id.  It provided for a hybrid 

joint/sole decision making process and court action only if the 

parenting plan monitor could not make a decision or someone 

objected to the parenting plan monitor’s recommendation. Id.   

VI.  ARGUMENT 

A. Conflicts with Decisions of this Court.  

1. When a parent has engaged in a history of acts of domestic 
violence, trial courts are prohibited by statute and public 
policy from allowing joint decision making and alternative 
dispute resolution.  

The Opinion conflicts with a decision of this Court. In Caven 

v. Caven, 136 Wn.2d 800, 808, 966 P.2d 1247, 1250–5 (1998), this 

Court affirmed the Court of Appeals, which held, “Because the 

statute requires sole decision-making upon a finding of a history of 

domestic violence, the trial court abused its discretion in awarding 

mutual decision-making.” In re Marriage of C.M.C., 87 Wn. App. 84, 
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89, 940 P.2d 669, 671 (1997), aff'd sub nom. Caven v. Caven, 136 

Wn.2d 800, 808, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998). See, also, RCW 

26.09.191(1).5 There is no exception to this statutory requirement. 

Despite this, the Opinion conflicts with the rule announced in 

Caven.      

B. Conflicts with Decisions of the Court of Appeals. 

1. When a parent has engaged in a history of acts of domestic 
violence, the restrictions prohibiting joint decision making 
and alternative dispute resolution are absolute and the 
restrictions on residential time can only be waived upon 
express findings not made in this case.     

There is conflict between the Opinion and the Court of 

Appeals decision in Mansour v. Mansour, 126 Wn. App. 1,106 P.3d 

768, 773 (2004), publication ordered (Feb. 10, 2005). There, the 

Court of Appeals held that “Once the court finds that a parent 

engaged in physical abuse, it must not require mutual decision-

making.”  Mansour 126 Wn. App. at 10. Mansour, reading RCW 

26.09.191(1) in conjunction with RCW 26.09.187(2)(b)(i) also states 

that trial courts must award sole decision maker to the parent who 

                                                 
5 The permanent parenting plan shall not require mutual decision-making or 
designation of a dispute resolution process other than court action if it is found 
that a parent has engaged in any of the following conduct…or (c) a history of acts 
of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(3) or an assault or sexual 
assault that causes grievous bodily harm or the fear of such harm or that results 
in a pregnancy. 
 

http://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=26.50.010
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has no RCW 26.09.191 limitations against them. Id.6 Here, the trial 

court refused to remove RCW 26.09.191 history of engaging in acts 

of domestic violence restrictions against the perpetrator, at least as 

to the survivor. Pursuant to RCW 26.09.191(1), 26.09.187(2)(b)(i), 

and Mansour, the trial court was, therefore, obligated to award sole 

decision making to Mother. Mansour also determined that the 

residential time limitations in RCW 26.09.191(2)(a) are also 

mandatory unless the trial court makes the findings required in 

RCW 26.09.191(2)(n). Here, the trial court did not make the 

required expressed findings. The Opinion conflicts with Mansour.  

The Opinion also conflicts with the Court of Appeals 

decisions in Kinnan v. Jordan, 131 Wn. App. 738, 129 P.3d 807 

(2006); In re Marriage of Stewart, 133 Wn. App. 545, 137 P.3d 25 

(2006); and Matter of L.H., 198 Wn. App. 190, 194, 391 P.3d 490, 

(2016) all of which hold the restrictions and limitations in RCW 

26.09.191(1) and (2) are mandatory. In Kinnan, the Court of 

Appeals held the trial court erred in not following the mandates in 

RCW 26.09.191(1) and (2). Kinnan, 131 Wn. App. at 752-53. 

Stewart holds, “RCW 26.09.191(2)(a) provides that in parenting 

                                                 
6 RCW 26.09.187(2)(b)(i) provides “The court shall order sole decision-making to 
one parent when it finds that: (i) A limitation on the other parent’s decision 
making authority mandated by RCW 26.09.191.   
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plans, residential time with a child must be restricted where there is 

a pattern of emotional abuse of the child or a history of acts of 

domestic violence.” Stewart, 133 Wn. App. at 553. Finally, LH 

holds, “Restrictions on a parent's decision-making and residential 

time are mandatory if the trial court finds that the parent has ‘a 

history of acts of domestic violence as defined in RCW 

26.50.010(1) or an assault or sexual assault which causes grievous 

bodily harm or the fear of such harm.’” Here, the trial court entered 

a findings the Father had engaged in a history of acts of domestic 

violence, but ordered joint decision-making, alternative dispute 

resolution and named him the children’s primary residential parent. 

This conflicts with Mansour, Stewart, and LH.   

The trial court also provided that the domestic violence 

restrictions against the Father toward the Mother would be lifted if 

Father successfully completed domestic violence treatment. There 

is no provision that allows courts to remove domestic violence 

restrictions in their entirety. In fact, that proposal conflicts with LH 

that requires a written finding where there has been a “history of 

domestic violence.” LH, 198 Wash. App. at 194.           

The Opinion conflicts with the Court of Appeals unpublished 

decision in In re Marriage of Moody, 143 Wn. App. 1025 (2008) 
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(UNPUBLISHED). There, “the trial court not only failed to restrict 

Moody's residential time with the children as required under 

subsection (2), but made [the perpetrator] the primary custodial 

parent after imposing discretionary limitations on [the survivor’s] 

visitation and parental rights based on RCW 26.09.191(3) factors.” 

Id. Despite the issues being identical, the Moody court reached the 

opposite conclusion and reversed the trial court because it did not 

make the required findings to remove the residential time 

restrictions7 and because it could not remove the absolute 

prohibition on joint decision-making and alternative dispute 

resolution. Id.      

The Opinion also conflicts with the recent decision in Burke 

v. Burke, 50141-4-II, 2018 WL 4600925, (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 25, 

2018). There, the trial court made a finding that a parent had 

engaged in acts of domestic violence for the purposes of RCW 

26.09.191, but ordered joint decision making. Burke, 2018 WL 

4600925 at *2. The Court of Appeals reversed stating, “the trial 

court could not order joint decision-making under RCW 26.09.191. 

                                                 
7 In Moody, the trial court found “The trial courts finding that “Mr. Moody has 
taken steps to address his addiction and his use of violence” does not satisfy the 
statute's specific requirements. The trial courts finding that “Mr. Moody has taken 
steps to address his addiction and his use of violence” does not satisfy the 
statute's specific requirements.” Id. This was held to be insufficient. Id.  
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Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in ordering joint 

decision-making.” Burke at *3.     

C. Substantial Public Interest. 

This Court’s latest pronouncement on domestic violence, 

Rodriguez v. Zavala, 188 Wn.2d 586, 398 P.3d 1071 (2017), and 

the public policy previously articulated in Danny v. Laidlaw Transit 

Servs., Inc., 165 Wn.2d 200, 193 P.3d 128, 133 (2008), are not 

well-served by the Opinion. In Rodgriguez, this Court properly 

determined that a child’s “    

Scholarly research supports the conclusion that exposure to 
domestic violence is a simpler, more insidious method of 
inflicting harm. While exposure to abuse may not leave 
visible scars, the secondary physical and psychological 
effects of exposure are well documented. (Citations omitted).   

In addition to witnessing violence, hearing and seeing its 
effects on loved ones may harm a child's brain development 
and lead to learning disabilities, put children under emotional 
stress, and contribute to an increase in anxiety, sleep 
disorders, and posttraumatic stress disorder. (Citations 
omitted). 

More importantly, our legislature has recognized that 
domestic violence is “at the core of other major social 
problems: Child abuse, other crimes of violence against 
person or property, juvenile delinquency, and alcohol and 
drug abuse.”(Citation omitted).  

Ample evidence supports the view that direct and indirect 
exposure to domestic violence is harmful. 

Rodriguez, 188 Wn.2d at 597–98. 
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The Rodriguez pronouncement flows directly from this 

Court’s decision in Danny this Court declared: 

The legislature's consistent pronouncements over the 
last 30 years evince a clear public policy to prevent 
domestic violence—a policy the legislature has 
sought to further by taking clear, concrete actions to 
encourage domestic violence victims to end 
abuse, leave their abusers, protect their children, 
and cooperate with law enforcement and 
prosecution efforts to hold the abuser 
accountable. The legislature has created means for 
domestic violence victims to obtain civil and criminal 
protection from abuse, established shelters and 
funded social and legal services aimed at helping 
victims leave their abusers, established treatment 
programs for batterers, created an address 
confidentiality system to ensure the safety of victims, 
and guaranteed protection to victims exercising their 
duty to cooperate with law enforcement. The 
legislature's creation of means to prevent, escape, 
and end abuse is indicative of its overall policy of 
preventing domestic violence. This public policy is 
even more pronounced when a parent seeks, with 
the aid of law enforcement and child protective 
services, to protect his or her children from 
abuse. 

Danny, 165 Wn.2d at 212–13.  

To be sure, in 1992 the Legislature found that “Domestic 

violence is a problem of immense proportions affecting individuals 

as well as communities. Domestic violence has long been 

recognized as being at the core of other major social problems: 

Child abuse, other crimes of violence against person or property, 
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juvenile delinquency, and alcohol and drug abuse. Domestic 

violence costs millions of dollars each year in the state of 

Washington for health care, absence from work, services to 

children, and more.” State v. Dejarlais, 136 Wn.2d 939, 944, 969 

P.2d 90, 92 (1998) citing, Laws of 1992, ch. 111, sec. 1; and Danny 

at 208-09, citing Laws of 1992 ch. 111, §1. 

 Finally, this Court has recognized that, “Even after 

separation, batterers use the children as pawns to control the 

abused party.” State v. Veliz, 176 Wn.2d 849, 869, 298 P.3d 75, 85 

(2013) (in dissent) citing, Wash. State Gender and Justice Comm'n, 

Domestic Violence Manual for Judges 2-36 (rev. ed. 2006).  

 Here, the trial court switched three minor children’s primary 

parent from the survivor, Mother, where the trial court described 

them as flourishing to the Mother’s abuser without making the 

findings required by RCW 26.09.191(2)(n) and also ordered joint 

decision making and alternative dispute resolution prior to court 

action. All three actions contravene the public policy 

pronouncements in Rodriguez, Danny and Dejarlais. 

D. RAP 7.2 

RAP 7.2(a) and (e) divest trial courts of powers to modify 

decisions that are under review by the appellate court. The Opinion 
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itself makes clear the trial court changed and modified the 2017 

Relocation Parenting Plan being reviewed. In its Opinion the Court 

of Appeals stated the trial court initially awarded Mother and Father 

joint decision making in the 2017 Relocation Parenting Plan.   

Opinion, Pg. 5.8 The Opinion then shows the trial court entered a 

new and modified final parenting plan that “granted Brian sole 

decision-making authority over major decisions in light of Jessica’s 

abusive use of conflict and the parties’ inability to cooperate with 

one another in decision-making.”   

Moreover, the trial court changed the Relocation Order when 

it modified the residential time Mother was supposed to receive 

if she did not comply with the psychological evaluation 

condition. The Relocation Order specifically provided that 

Mother was supposed to receive residential time every other 

weekend and one mid-week overnight if she did not obtain the 

required psychological evaluation ordered by the trial court. CP 

482. But in its September 2017 Parenting Plan the trial court 

reduced Mother’s residential time to 10 hours of supervised 

residential time per week at the perpetrator’s home. See 

Opinion, Pg. 8, f.n.11. In fact, the Opinion plainly states, 

                                                 
8 “The trial court found that joint decision-making was warranted following the 
imposition of the abusive use of conflict limiting factor upon Jessica.” 
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“Although the September 2017 parenting plan differed from the 

June 2017 parenting plan9 in terms of Jessica’s residential 

schedule and the parties’  decision-making authority.”  

E. Attorney Fees  

 Mother has a right to attorney fees and the Court of Appeals 

abused its discretion in not awarding fees. The purpose of an 

attorney fee award is to allow a financially disadvantaged parent to 

present his or her case without financial hardship. Frazier v. 

Frazier, 174 Wash. App. 1003, 972 P.2d 466 (2013). In 2005, the 

Legislature found domestic violence victims “have the highest need 

in terms of legal services,” but “do not have access to legal services 

and do not know their rights under the law.” Danny, 165 Wn.2d at 

211–12, citing, H.B. Rep. on H.B. 1314, at 3, 59th Leg., Reg. Sess. 

(Wash.2005). Here, the trial court abused its discretion in not 

awarding Mother her appellate attorney fees as she is at a 

significant disadvantage in court with her minimal income when 

compared to Father’s recurring $35,000 per month in net income.    

RAP 18.1 allows attorney fees on appeal on the same basis 

as at trial. RCW 26.09.140 allows attorney fees on appeal based on 

need and ability to pay. Here, Father has an ability to pay (#35,000 

                                                 
9 In order to properly reflect the record, this should read the May 2017 Final 
Order on Relocation.  
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per month in net income) and Mother does not (less than $3,000 

per month in net income and owes her attorney over $50,000 in 

appellate fees).    

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED December 26, 2018. 

 
 

WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC 
  

/s/ Dennis J. McGlothin 
By: ___________________ 

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA # 28177 
Robert J. Cadranell, WSBA # 41773 
Attorneys for Petitioner Brian Massingham 
Western Washington Law Group, PLLC 
7500 212th St SW, Suite 207 
Edmonds, Washington  98026 
(425) 728-7296 
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TRICKEY, J. - Brian Bodge and Jessica Bodge dissolved their marriage in 

2015.1 Their three children primarily resided with Jessica. In 2016, Jessica filed 

a notice of intent to relocate with the children to Alabama. 

Following a relocation trial, the trial court granted Jessica's request to 

relocate with the children, conditioned upon her completion of a psychological 

evaluation and entry into any recommended treatment. Jessica failed to complete 

the required psychological examination. The trial court made Brian the parent with 

whom the children primarily reside. Jessica appeals, arguing that the trial court 

committed numerous errors. Finding no error, we affirm. 

FACTS 

Jessica and Brian married in December 1997. They separated in 

September 201 O after Jessica alleged that Brian perpetrated domestic violence 

1 For clarity, this opinion will refer to Jessica Bodge and Brian Bodge by their first names. 
No disrespect to the parties is intended. 
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against her. The parties reconciled. On October 9, 2012, Jessica again filed for 

legal separation. 

On October 10, 2014, the children's guardian ad litem (GAL) submitted a 

report.2 The GAL recommended that Jessica be the parent with whom the children 

primarily reside and have sole decision-making authority, and that parental 

disputes would be submitted to arbitration. The GAL recommended parenting 

classes for Brian, along with psychological therapy. 

On July 9, 2015, Jessica and Brian's marriage was dissolved. The trial court 

entered an agreed final parenting plan resulting from mediation (the July 2015 

parenting plan). The July 2015 parenting plan stated that Jessica would be the 

parent with whom the children primarily reside, imposed a domestic violence 

limiting factor on Brian, set forth the process by which Jessica could relocate with 

the children, and granted sole decision-making authority to Jessica.3 The July 

2015 parenting plan required that Brian's relationship with the children be repaired 

prior to Jessica being allowed to relocate with the children. 

The July 2015 parenting plan called for Alecia Richards, a therapist, to 

assist in determining whether Brian's parenting had improved such that he could 

have overnights with the children, and whether to allow Jessica to relocate. 

Richards became unable or, unwilling to evaluate the children or provide testimony. 

On June 6, 2016, Jessica filed a notice of intended relocation with the 

children to Alabama in order to be closer to her extended family. Brian filed an 

2 The trial court admitted the entirety of the GAL's report, and directed the parties to 
challenge its relevance during trial as necessary. 
3 The July 2015 parenting plan provided a phased residential schedule for Brian and 
required the parties to submit disputes to arbitration. 

2 
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objection to the relocation, a petition to modify the July 2015 parenting plan, and a 

motion for a temporary order preventing the intended relocation. 

The trial court restrained Jessica from moving with the children prior to trial. 

The trial court noted that Brian's relationship with the children had still not been 

repaired. The trial court stated that a neutral third party should conduct 

reunification counseling between Brian and the children. The trial court found that 

Jessica had not engaged in good faith efforts to undergo arbitration and assist 

Brian in gaining overnights with the children. 

On August 30, 2016, the parties went to arbitration to resolve the process 

by which Brian could transition to having overnights with the children. On 

September 14, 2016, the arbitrator issued his decision. The arbitrator decided that 

another therapist, Pat Martinelli, would take over Richard's role under the July 

2015 parenting plan. The arbitrator stated that, once Martinelli determined that 

Brian's time could be expanded, Brian would be allowed overnights with the 

children immediately.4 

The relocation trial began on January 18, 2017. Brian expressed regret 

during his testimony for having agreed to the domestic violence limiting factor in 

the July 2015 parenting plan. He pointed out that the criminal case resulting from 

the alleged 2010 domestic violence incident had been dismissed with prejudice, 

and stated that he had been acting in self-defense. He denied perpetrating 

domestic violence upon the children. 

Domestic violence experts for both Brian and Jessica testified that a 

4 The trial court denied Jessica's subsequent motion for superior court review of the 
arbitration decision. 

3 
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perpetrator blaming the victim, claiming self-defense, or changing the narrative 

about the incident would be concerning or indicate that domestic violence 

treatment was ineffective. 

Martinelli testified that her interviews with the children and Brian indicated 

that they had good relationships, and that Brian had demonstrated good parenting 

techniques. Martinelli stated that while she was treating Brian and the children, 

Jessica improperly attempted to share information with Martinelli. 

On February 1, 2017, Brian moved to modify the July 2015 parenting plan. 

Brian argued that the children's current living situation was harmful to their 

physical, mental, or emotional health, and that Jessica had not followed the July 

2015 parenting plan, citing evidence from the relocation trial. Brian requested joint 

decision-making, removal of the domestic violence limiting factor against him, 

imposition of an abusive use of conflict parental conduct factor against Jessica, 

and modification of his child support obligation. 

The final day of testimony was March 16, 2017. On April 14, 2017, the trial 

court issued a memorandum decision, including findings of fact and conclusions 

of law. The trial court considered the mandatory RCW 26.09.520 factors and 

concluded that they favored allowing Jessica's intended relocation. The trial court 

also found that Jessica had engaged in abusive use of conflict, and imposed an 

abusive use of conflict limiting factor on Jessica. The trial court increased Brian's 

visitation time, which would be spent in larger blocks because of the distance the 

relocation would create. 

4 



No. 76954-5-1 / 5 

The trial court also stated, 

as a condition of custody, [Jessica] will be required to undergo a 
psychological evaluation and follow the recommendations for 
treatment. In the course of this evaluation all collaterals who 
participated at trial shall be reviewed. [Jessica] shall comply within 
a discrete time frame set by the court. And if there is failure to 
comply, custody will change to [Brian].(51 

The trial court lifted Brian's domestic violence limiting factor as it applied to 

the children pursuant to RCW 26.09.191 (2)(n), in part based on Martinelli's 

testimony. The trial court did not lift Brian's domestic violence limiting factor as to 

Jessica in light of her continued allegations of Brian's abusive use of conflict and 

Brian's minimization of the 2010 domestic violence allegation prior to the relocation 

trial. The trial court conditioned a complete lifting of the domestic violence limiting 

factor on Brian submitting to a domestic violence reevaluation and completion of 

any recommended treatment. 

The trial court found that joint decision-making was warranted following the 

imposition of the abusive use of conflict limiting factor upon Jessica. The trial court 

required the parties to submit disputes to a designated case manager or parenting 

plan monitor. Any dispute that could not be resolved by the case manager or 

parenting plan monitor would be resolved by motion to the trial court. 

On May 10, 2017, the trial court held a hearing for presentation of final 

orders and to rule on various motions. The trial court noted its continuing concerns 

over Jessica's mental health condition.6 Jessica's attorney had filed a motion to 

withdraw, as she could not afford to be Jessica's attorney any longer. Brian 

5 1 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 186 (footnote and boldface omitted). 
6 Jessica had recently called the suicide crisis line, and the evaluator was concerned 
enough to call 911. The police and Brian conducted a welfare check on Jessica. 

5 
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opposed the motion, and the trial court denied Jessica's attorney's motion. 

During the hearing, the trial court clarified that "all collaterals who 

participated at trial shall be reviewed" meant that Jessica's psychological 

evaluation had to demonstrate that all collaterals at trial had been contacted, 

although that did not require in person contact.7 

On May 11, 2017, the trial court issued its final order and findings, which 

incorporated its prior findings and conclusions. Jessica was required to undergo 

a psychological evaluation by a court-approved psychiatrist by July 14, 2017, and 

be in active treatment no later than August 11, 2017. Karen Ballantyne was named 

as the parties' parenting plan monitor. 

On June 8, 2017, the trial court filed the modified final parenting plan (the 

June 2017 parenting plan). The June 2017 parenting plan incorporated the trial 

court's findings of fact and conclusions of law, and made several changes to the 

parties' visitation schedule and communications. 

On June 8, 2017, Jessica filed a prose notice of appeal in this court. She 

sought review of the trial court's April 14, 2017 findings of fact and conclusions of 

law and its related May 11, 2017 final order. 

On June 10, 2017, Jessica's attorney filed another notice of intent to 

withdraw, effective June 23, 2017. 

On June 19, 2017, Brian completed a domestic violence and anger 

management evaluation performed by Tim Tackels. Tackels recommended that 

7 After noting that there had been a suggestion that the phrase meant only certain people 
at trial, the trial court stated, "No, that's not what it says. I want the evaluator to have a 
full picture of what happened at trial." 13 Report of Proceedings (RP) (May 10, 2017) at 
1652. 

6 
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Brian undergo an abbreviated six-month domestic violence treatment program. 

On July 3, 2017, Jessica filed a psychological evaluation report prepared by 

JoAnne Solchany. Solchany is a psychiatric nurse practitioner, psychotherapist, 

and infant mental health specialist.8 Solchany reviewed the parties' prior 

psychological evaluations and medical records; the GAL report; motions, 

declarations, exhibits, and other evidence from the relocation trial; letters from 

treatment providers; the parties' closing arguments; and the trial court's June 2017 

parenting plan and related documents. 

On July 7, 2017, Brian moved to become the parent with whom the children 

reside a majority of the time based on Jessica's failure to complete a satisfactory 

psychological evaluation. On July 14, 2017, the trial court held a hearing on Brian's 

motion. Jessica represented herself at the hearing. 

The trial court stated that Solchany's evaluation did not satisfy the July 2017 

parenting plan's psychological evaluation condition. The trial court noted that it 

had not approved Solchany and that she was not a psychiatrist. The trial court 

also concluded that her psychological evaluation was insufficient because she had 

not reviewed the trial transcript or all the collaterals who participated at trial. The 

trial court granted Brian's motion and ordered that Brian would be the parent with 

whom the children primarily reside. 9 

8 Solchany diagnosed Jessica in part with Acute Stress Disorder and ongoing Post­
Traumatic Stress Disorder. 
9 Brian also moved to have his domestic violence limiting factor regarding Jessica lifted in 
light of Tackles's evaluation. The trial court denied Brian's request to remove the domestic 
violence limiting factor as to Jessica. The trial court stated that Brian could move to have 
the limiting factor lifted as to Jessica if he completed the treatment recommended by 
Tackels. 

7 
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On August 16, 2017, the trial court held a hearing on the entry of a final 

parenting plan. New counsel represented Jessica.10 Jessica argued that the trial 

court lacked jurisdiction to modify the June 2017 parenting plan because she had 

appealed it. The trial court rejected Jessica's argument, concluding that her failure 

to complete a condition in the June 2017 parenting plan necessitated the entry of 

a new final parenting plan, and thus did not constitute a modification. 

Brian also requested a cease and desist order against Jessica's use of the 

children's images on her GoFundMe online account with an accompanying 

statement that the children were survivors of domestic violence and abuse. The 

trial court found that Jessica's use of the children's images and statement that they 

had been abused were inherently harmful to the children, and ordered her to 

remove the children's images from the GoFundMe account. 

On September 27, 2017, the trial court entered a new final parenting plan 

(September 2017 parenting plan). The September 2017 parenting plan provided 

for a phased visitation schedule for Jessica. 11 The trial court granted Brian sole 

decision-making authority over major decisions in light of Jessica's abusive use of 

conflict and the parties' inability to cooperate with one another in decision-making. 

Jessica filed two motions to stay the trial court's decision, both of which a 

10 Dennis McGlothin of Western Washington Law Group represented Jessica at the 
hearing. 
11 Under Phase 1, Jessica would have supervised contact with the children for specified 
hours twice a week. Jessica would move to Phase 2 of the residential schedule if she did 
not engage in abusive use of conflict for three months and underwent a satisfactory 
psychological evaluation. Under Phase 2, Jessica would have "unsupervised residential 
time on alternating weekends and one mid-week." 8 CP at 3352. Phase 2 was analogous 
to Phase Ill of Brian's residential schedule under the July 2015 parenting plan. 

8 
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commissioner of this court denied.12 

Jessica appeals.13 

ANALYSIS 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

Jessica argues that the trial court erred when it entered the September 2017 

parenting plan because it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to modify the June 

2017 parenting plan. Specifically, she argues that she had appealed the June 

2017 parenting plan and the trial court did not obtain this court's permission prior 

to modifying the June 2017 parenting plan. Because the trial court's entry of the 

September 2017 parenting plan was an enforcement action that did not require 

permission from this court, we disagree. 

In a civil case, except to the extent enforcement of a judgment or 
decision has been stayed as provided in rules 8.1 or 8.3, the trial 
court has authority to enforce any decision of the trial court and a 
party may execute on any judgment of the trial court. Any person 
may take action premised on the validity of a trial court judgment or 
decision until enforcement of the judgment or decision is stayed as 
provided in rules 8.1 or 8.3. 

RAP 7.2(c). 

12 Commissioner's Ruling Denying Motion to Stay, entered July 26, 2017; Commissioner's 
Ruling Denying Motion to Stay, entered December 26, 2017. 
13 Brian argues that the statement of facts in Jessica's opening brief is improper because 
it does not accurately represent the facts and contains argument. We disagree. 

The parties' briefs on appeal should contain "[a] fair statement of the facts and 
procedure relevant to the issues presented for review, without argument. Reference to 
the record must be included for each factual statement." RAP 10.3(a)(5). 

In her statement of facts, Jessica generally provides citations to the record in 
support of her stated facts. Further, her statement of facts does not contain improper 
argument. Therefore, we conclude that Jessica's statement of facts does not violate RAP 
10.3(a)(5). 

9 
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"The trial court has authority to hear and determine (1) postjudgment 

motions authorized by the civil rules, the criminal rules, or statutes, and (2) actions 

to change or modify a decision that is subject to modification by the court that 

initially made the decision." RAP 7.2(e). "If the trial court determination will change 

a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court, the permission of the 

appellate court must be obtained prior to the formal entry of the trial court decision." 

RAP 7.2(e). 

Here, the trial court's entry of the September 2017 parenting plan was 

necessitated by Jessica's failure to undergo the psychological evaluation the June 

2017 parenting plan required. Thus, it constituted an enforcement action of a prior 

decision of the trial court under RAP 7.2(c) rather than a modification of a decision 

subject to appeal.14 

Although the September 2017 parenting plan differed from the June 2017 

parenting plan in terms of Jessica's residential schedule and the parties' decision­

making authority, these changes were premised on prior findings of the trial court. 

Further, the changes flowed from Brian becoming the parent with whom the 

children primarily reside following Jessica's failure to satisfy the condition in the 

June 2017 parenting plan. Therefore, we conclude that the trial court did not lack 

subject matter jurisdiction under RAP 7.2(e). 

14 We note that a commissioner of this court previously rejected Jessica's argument that 
this court lacked subject matter jurisdiction under RAP 7.2(e) when denying Jessica's 
motions to stay the trial court's order. Commissioner's Ruling Denying Motion to Stay, 
entered July 26, 2017; Commissioner's Ruling Denying Motion to Stay, entered December 
26, 2017. A three-judge panel of this court denied Jessica's subsequent motion to modify 
the commissioner's July 26, 2017 ruling. Order Denying Motion to Modify, No. 76954-5-1 
(consol. with Nos. 77155-8 and 77494-5), entered December 7, 2017. 

10 
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Jessica also argues that the trial court could not modify the June 2017 

parenting plan because Brian did not file a petition to modify. See In re Marriage 

of Christel and Blanchard, 101 Wn. App. 13, 22, 1 P.3d 600 (2000) (three ways to 

change a permanent parenting plan are "by agreement, by petition to modify, and 

by temporary order"). This is unpersuasive. 

As discussed above, the trial court's entry of the September 2017 parenting 

plan was necessitated by Jessica's failure to satisfy a condition contained in the . 

June 2017 parenting plan. The June 2017 parenting plan specified that Brian 

would become the parent with whom the children primarily reside if Jessica failed 

to undergo a satisfactory psychological evaluation. The change in Jessica's 

visitation schedule between the June 2017 parenting plan and the September2017 

parenting plan was temporary, as it was conditioned on her completion of a 

satisfactory psychological evaluation. Similarly, granting sole decision-making 

authority to Brian was necessitated by his becoming the· parent with whom the 

children primarily reside, combined with the abusive use of conflict finding against 

Jessica and the lack of cooperation between the parties. 

Thus, we conclude that the trial court did not impermissibly modify the June 

2017 parenting plan by entering the September 2017 parenting plan, although 

Brian did not file a petition to modify. 

Joint Decision-Making 

Jessica argues that the trial court erred when it ordered joint decision­

making between the parties in the June 2017 parenting plan because of Brian's 

history of domestic violence. Because the September 2017 parenting plan granted 

11 
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sole decision-making authority to Brian, with disputes resolved by the parenting 

plan monitor or the trial court, we conclude that this issue is moot. 

'"A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief."' In re 

Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 891, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) (quoting Orwick v. 

City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249, 253, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)). 

Here, the September 2017 parenting plan, which granted sole decision­

making authority to Brian, superseded the June 2017 parenting plan. Jessica 

acknowledges that joint decision-making ended when the September 2017 

parenting plan was filed. Therefore, this court cannot provide Jessica with effective 

relief for any error in the decision-making section of the June 2017 parenting plan, 

and we reject her argument as moot. 

Findings Related to Abusive Use of Conflict 

Jessica argues that the trial court's findings regarding her abusive use of 

conflict are not supported by substantial evidence. We will examine each of her 

challenges in turn.15 

We review the trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence. In re 

Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. 235, 242, 170 P.3d 572 (2007). "'Substantial 

evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a 

15 We note that Jessica has not cited to the record in support of her argument, and thus 
has not directed the court's attention to which findings of the trial court she is challenging. 
RAP 10.3(a)(6). Further, she has not provided a separate assignment of error for each 
finding of fact that she is challenging on appeal. RAP 10.3(g); see Appellant's Opening 
Br. at 4 ("The trial court erred when [it] found that [Jessica] had engaged in abusive use 
of conflict because the court's findings of fact are not supported by substantial evidence"). 
Nonetheless, we will assume that she is challenging the listed examples underlying the 
trial court's finding that Jessica engaged in abusive use of conflict, and reach the merits 
of her arguments. 

12 
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fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise."' In re Marriage 

of Griswold, 112 Wn. App. 333, 339, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002) (quoting Bering v. 

SHARE, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986)). 

"Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, the reviewing court's role 

is simply to determine whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact 

and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law." 

In re Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. at 242. "A court should 'not substitute [its] judgment 

for the trial court's, weigh the evidence, or adjudge witness credibility."' In re 

Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. at 242 (alteration in original) (quoting In re Marriage of 

Greene, 97 Wn. App. 708, 714, 986 P.2d 144 (1999)). 

First, Jessica argues that the trial court's finding that she has continued to 

portray Brian in a negative light and that this portrayal has adversely impacted his 

relationship with the children is not supported by substantial evidence. We agree. 

At trial, Martinelli testified that Jessica cast Brian in a negative light by 

frequently pointing o_ut his deficits, and that she assumed that Jessica discussed 

Brian with the children. And Jessica's arguments before the trial court frequently 

touched on Brian's real or perceived deficits. But testimony in the record also 

established that Jessica did not voice her negative views of Brian in front of the 

children. Brian has not cited evidence in the record supporting the trial court's 

finding that Jessica's negative portrayals of Brian, either in or out of court, have 

negatively impacted his relationship with the children. 

Martinelli's testimony regarding Jessica's portrayal of Brian is insufficient to 

support the trial court's finding. Martinelli could not conclusively say that Jessica 

13 
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had portrayed Brian negatively to the children, and did not testify about the 

negative impact of any such portrayal. Multiple other witnesses testified that 

Jessica did not voice her negative portrayals in front of the children. Therefore, 

we conclude that this finding was not supported by substantial evidence. 

Second, Jessica argues that the trial court's finding that Jessica attempted 

to influence a reviewer's decisions and impressions of the parties was not 

supported by substantial evidence. Specifically, she contends that the record does 

not clearly demonstrate that her e-mail to retired Commissioner Arden Bedle, 

whom the parties had as a potential arbitrator, supports the trial court's finding that 

she attempted to influence him. We disagree. 

In its list of examples supporting its finding that Jessica engaged in abusive 

use of conflict, the trial court stated, "Evidence presented of other attempts to 

engage in communications with decision makers in this case (email to ret. 

Commissioner Bedle) in an attempt to influence the reviewer's decisions and 

impressions of the parties."16 

In a declaration, Jessica stated that "Brian contacted retired Commissioner 

Arden Bed le to see if he'd arbitrate. I exchanged emails with Commissioner Bed le, 

and informed him of the past [domestic violence] and 191 restrictions. 

Commissioner Bedle stated that he did not have appropriate facilities."17 Jessica's 

declaration establishes that she informed a prospective decision maker of Brian's 

history of domestic violence and the imposition of a domestic violence limiting 

factor against him. This constitutes substantial evidence supporting the trial court's 

16 1 CP at 185. 
17 4 CP at 1540. Neither party provided a citation to the e-mail itself in the clerk's papers. 

14 
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finding that Jessica attempted to influence the views of decision makers to Brian's 

detriment. We reject Jessica's challenge to this finding. 

Third, Jessica argues that the trial court's finding that she attempted to 

intimidate or seek retribution against Martinelli for testifying at the relocation trial is 

not supported by substantial evidence "because [Jessica's] claim that Martinelli 

failed to report as a mandatory reporter was taken seriously by the Department of 

Health."18 We disagree. 

At trial, Martinelli testified that she was a mandatory reporter. She testified 

that she made a report to Child Protective Services (CPS) about an incident when 

Brian left the children alone at his home, at Jessica's urging. Martinelli also 

testified that she was aware that Jessica was unhappy with Martinelli's role in 

assisting Brian in being able to have overnights with the children. 

During the relocation trial, Jessica filed an online complaint to the 

Department of Health that Martinelli had failed to report as a mandatory reporter. 

Martinelli's conduct underlying Jessica's complaint had occurred months prior to 

Jessica filing her complaint. Martinelli testified that the timing indicated that 

Jessica's complaints were retaliatory or for intimidation purposes. Martinelli noted 

that she had not seen the family since early November, and that "if these were 

legitimate complaints they would have been filed in November or October when all 

of these things were occurring. But the fact that they occurred and were filed at 

the same time that the trial was going on was ... just too coincidental."19 

18 Appellant's Opening Br. at 47. 
19 7 RP (Jan. 31, 2017) at 832. 

15 
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Here, the trial court's finding primarily pertains to Jessica's intent in bringing 

a formal complaint against Martinelli only after she assisted Brian in obtaining 

overnights with the children and testified at trial. The merit of Jessica's complaint 

to the Department of Health does not bear on Jessica's underlying intent. 

Further, the trial court's finding that Jessica's filing of formal complaints 

against witnesses during trial was done for retaliatory or intimidation purposes is 

supported by substantial evidence. · Martinelli's testimony established that her 

alleged failure to report had occurred in October or November 2016, but Jessica 

waited until trial began in January 2017 to file her complaint. In addition, Martinelli 

testified that she was aware of Jessica's displeasure at Martinelli's role in assisting 

Brian. Viewed together, Martinelli's testimony and the timing of Jessica's filing of 

complaints against her during trial constitute substantial evidence supporting the 

trial court's finding. 

The remainder of Jessica's challenges are without merit. Two of her 

challenges concern alleged findings by the trial court regarding Jessica's court and 

arbitration filings, including that they increased costs and constituted abuses of the 

process. Neither of these alleged findings appear in the trial court's listed 

examples supporting its overall finding that Jessica engaged in abusive use of 

conflict. Jessica has not cited to the record in support of her arguments, and thus 

has not directed the court's attention to which findings she is challenging. RAP 

10.3(a)(6). Therefore, we reject these arguments. 

Jessica also argues that she cannot be penalized for truthful testimony 

about Brian's deficiencies or for Martinelli's testimony about the inconsistency 

16 
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between the children's statements and their demeanor around Brian. Jessica also 

argues that the trial court erred in stating that her call to CPS was ultimately 

deemed unfounded, and that the trial court erred when it noted that the volume 

and content of her text messages was concerning. Jessica's arguments attack the 

trial court's recitation of evidence presented at the relocation trial, or require this 

court to reweigh the evidence or judge witness credibility on appeal. In re 

Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. at 242. We reject Jessica's challenges. 

In sum, we conclude that the trial court's finding that Jessica portrayed Brian 

in a negative light and that this portrayal adversely impacted the children is not 

supported by substantial evidence. We otherwise reject Jessica's challenges to 

the trial court's findings regarding Jessica's abusive use of conflict, including the 

lack of merit in her call to CPS and the volume and content of her text messages. 

We also note that Jessica has not challenged the remainder of the trial court's 

findings supporting its overall finding that she engaged in abusive use of conflict. 

Therefore, we conclude that the trial court's overall finding is supported by 

substantial evidence. 

Findings Supporting Modification 

Jessica argues that the trial court erred when it failed to make mandatory 

findings prior to modifying the July 2015 parenting plan.20 Because the trial court 

made the requisite RCW 26.09.260 findings, we disagree. 

20 Jessica also argues that the trial court's order naming Brian as the parent with whom 
the children would primarily reside constituted an impermissible sanction against her for 
failing to comply with the trial court's order. Jessica does not cite legal authority in support 
of this argument. RAP 10.3(a)(6). Further, her argument is premised on her contention 
that the trial court's decision was erroneous because it did not make required findings and 
its decision was not supported by substantial evidence. We reject this argument. 
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[T]he court shall not modify a prior custody decree or a parenting 
plan unless it finds, upon the basis of facts that have arisen since the 
prior decree or plan that were unknown to the court at the time of the 
prior decree or plan, that a substantial change has occurred in the 
circumstances of the child or the nonmoving party and that the 
modification is in the best interest of the child and is necessary to 
serve the best interests of the child. 

RCW 26.09.260(1 ). 

"In determining whether a substantial change in circumstances has 

occurred to warrant modification, the trial court must look only at the circumstances 

of the child or the custodial parent and not those of the noncustodial parent." 

George v. Helliar, 62 Wn. App. 378, 383, 814 P.2d 238 (1991).21 

"A parent's involvement or conduct may have an adverse effect on the 

child's best interests, and the court may preclude or limit any provisions of the 

parenting plan, if any of the following factors exist: ... (e) The abusive use of 

conflict by the parent which creates the danger of serious damage to the child's 

psychological development.'.' RCW 26.09.191 (3)(e). 

"Generally, a trial court's rulings dealing with the provisions of a parenting 

plan are reviewed for abuse of discretion." In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 

39, 46, 940 P .2d 1362 (1997). "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is 

manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." 

In re Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d at 46-47. 

"Because of the trial court's unique opportunity to observe the parties, the 

appellate court should be 'extremely reluctant to disturb child placement 

21 We note that a relocation petition may also serve as a basis for modifying an existing 
parenting plan. RCW 26.09.260(6). The statute "also expressly permits consideration of 
new parenting plans as a result of a relocation request." In re Marriage of McDevitt and 
Davis, 181 Wn. App. 765, 771, 326 P.3d 865 (2014). 
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dispositions."' In re Parentage of Schroeder, 106 Wn. App. 343,349, 22 P.3d 1280 

(2001) (quoting In re Marriage of Schneider, 82 Wn. App. 471, 476, 918 P.2d 543 

(1996), overruled on other grounds by In re Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d at 57). 

Here, following Brian's motion to modify the July 2015 parenting plan, the 

trial court made the findings required under RCW 26.09.260 in its memorandum 

decision following the relocation trial. Jessica's abusive use of conflict arose after 

the entry of the July 2015 parenting plan. The trial court noted that Jessica's 

abusive use of conflict was "relentless[]" and could harm the children if left 

unchecked.22 

The trial court concluded that the new parenting plan, which imposed an 

abusive use of conflict limiting factor on Jessica and conditioned her remaining the 

parent with whom the children primarily reside on completion of a psychological 

evaluation, was in the best interests of the children. Thus, the trial court made the 

findings required under RCW 26.09.260 prior to modifying the July 2015 parenting 

plan, and was justified in limiting Jessica's rights to relocate and remain the parent 

with whom the children primarily reside under RCW 26.09.191 (3). We conclude 

that the trial court did not abuse its discretion.23 

22 1 CP at 186. 
23 Jessica also argues that the trial court erred when it modified the parties' residential 
schedule following the relocation trial because it did not make required findings under 
RCW 26.09.260(2). This is unpersuasive. 

Generally, the trial court "shall retain the residential schedule established by the . 
. . parenting plan." RCW 26.09.260(2). But "[t]he court may order adjustments to the 
residential aspects of a parenting plan pursuant to a proceeding to permit or restrain a 
relocation of the child." RCW 26.09.260(6). 

Here, the June 2017 parenting plan was a modification of the July 2015 parenting 
plan. The modification followed Jessica's filing of a notice of intent to relocate and a trial 
on her request. Because the modification of the residential schedule was justified under 
RCW 26.09.260(6), we reject Jessica's argument. 

19 



No. 76954-5-1 I 20 

Brian as Parent with whom the Children Primarily Reside 

Jessica argues that the trial court erred by establishing Brian as the parent 

with whom the children primarily reside because of Brian's history of domestic 

violence. She argues that the trial court did not adequately consider the ongoing 

effects of the past domestic violence involving the children, relying primarily on 

Rodriquez v. Zavala, 188 Wn.2d 586, 398 P.3d 1071 (2017). 

In Rodriguez, the Washington Supreme Court, in analyzing the broad 

definition of domestic violence in RCW 26.50.010(3), held that a person who is the 

victim of domestic violence which includes violent threats against that person's 

children may petition for a domestic violence protection order prohibiting the 

perpetrator from contacting the children. 188 Wn.2d at 590, 598-99. In its 

discussion of the case, the Supreme Court noted the need to protect a child even 

if the child did not witness the abuse of the victim. Rodriguez, 188 Wn.2d at 588. 

Similarly, this court has stated that "[e]ven when there is no evidence of a direct 

assault on a child, fear of violence is a form of domestic violence that will support 

an order for protection." Maldonado v. Maldonado, 197 Wn. App. 779, 791, 391 

P.3d 546 (2017). 

Here, unlike Rodriquez, the trial court acknowledged the past history of 

domestic violence as it affected the children. It did not minimize the impact of 

Brian's actions. The trial court carefully examined his behavior. It relied on 

Martinelli's testimony that Brian had demonstrated good parenting techniques, and 

that her interviews with the children and Brian indicated that they had good 

relationships. The trial court found in its consideration of the relocation factors 
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that, "in the best interest of the children, that [Brian] is no longer a threat to the 

children in compliance with. and as required by RCW 26.09.191 (2)(n). The 

testimony of Ms. Martinelli supports this, the children's performance supports this, 

and the general circumstances support this finding."24 This court cannot reweigh 

the evidence at the relocation trial. In re Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. at 242. 

Therefore, we conclude that Jessica's cited case law and the record before the 

trial court do not support her contention that the trial court erred in establishing 

Brian as the parent with whom the children reside the majority of the time.25 

Appointment of Case Manager 

Jessica argues that the trial court erred when it appointed a case manager 

and required the parties to submit disputes to her. Because the trial court properly 

appointed a case manager while maintaining the parties' right to superior court 

review, we disagree. 

24 1 CP at 489 (footnote omitted). Jessica briefly argues that there was insufficient 
evidence for Brian to meet the RCW 26.09.191 (2)(n) exception. But as discussed above, 
the trial court's determination was based on Martinelli's testimony and its consideration of 
the circumstances of the case. This constitutes substantial evidence supporting the trial 
court's finding. In re Griswold, 112 Wn. App. at 339. We reject Jessica's argument. 

In her reply brief, Jessica argues for the first time that the trial court erred when it 
did not make specific findings required by RCW 26.09.191 (2)(n). We reject this argument 
as untimely. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 
549 (1992); see RAP 10.3(c). 
25 Jessica also argues that the trial court erred when it lifted Brian's domestic violence 
limiting factor as to the children because he continued to deny that he committed acts of 
domestic violence toward the children. Jessica contends that the trial court's decision 
should be reversed as a matter of public policy because "[t]he restrictions in RCW 
26.09.191 should not be removed if there is still evidence that the domestic violence 
perpetrator has not yet internalized the lessons of domestic violence treatment and is still 
engaged in abusing one of his victims." Appellant's Opening Br. at 41. Jessica does not 
cite case law supporting her argument. We decline to reach the merits of Jessica's 
argument in light of her failure to provide citations to legal authority in support of her 
argument. RAP 10.3(a)(6). 
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"A process for resolving disputes, other than court action, shall be provided 

unless precluded or limited by RCW 26.09.187 or 26.09.191. A dispute resolution 

process may include counseling, mediation, or arbitration by a specified individual 

or agency, or court action." RCW 26.09.184(4). "The parties have the right of 

review from the dispute resolution process to the superior court." RCW 

26.09.184(4)(e). 

The Court of Appeals reviews questions of statutory construction de novo. 

In re Marriage of Brown, 159 Wn. App. 931,935,247 P.3d 466 (2011). A trial 

court's decisions regarding the provisions of a parenting plan are reviewed for 

abuse of discretion. In re Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d at 46. 

Here, the statute governing dispute resolution processes in permanent 

parenting plans uses permissive language. It does not limit trial courts to the listed 

examples of dispute resolution processes. Thus, the trial court could delegate 

dispute resolution authority to a case manager while providing the parties with the 

option of superior court review or resolution of the dispute. 

The September 2017 parenting plan provided a dispute resolution section 

that stated: 

From time to time, the parents may have disagreements about 
shared decisions or about what parts of this parenting plan mean. 

a. To solve disagreements about this parenting plan, the parents will 
go to (check one): 

Court (without having to go to mediation, arbitration, or 
counseling, but after utilizing the services of Karin Ballantyne, the 
Parenting Plan Monitor).1261 

26 8 CP at 3354. 

22 



No. 76954-5-1 / 23 

If Jessica disagreed with a major decision made by Brian, as the parent with 

sole decision-making authority, Jessica "shall submit her disagreement ... to the 

parenting plan monitor for resolution. The parenting plan monitor shall render a 

decision. If the dispute is not resolved by the parenting plan monitor, then either 

party may submit the dispute to the Court."27 

Neither of these provisions created improper dispute resolution procedures. 

The trial court performed its duty to provide a process for resolving disputes. The 

trial court acted within its discretion under the statutes in requiring the parties to 

initially submit their disputes to a case manager.28 And the trial court provided the 

parties with a means to submit disputes that could not be resolved by the case 

manager to the trial court. 

Therefore, we conclude that the trial court complied with the applicable 

statutes and did not abuse its discretion in crafting the September 2017 parenting 

plan's dispute resolution procedures. 

Prior Restraint on Speech 

Jessica argues that the trial court's order to take down the children's images 

from her GoFundMe online account was a prior restraint of speech that violated 

her First Amendment rights. Because the trial court's order was limited to her use 

of the children's images on her GoFundMe online account, we disagree. 

Prior restraints are '"[a]dministrative and judicial orders forbidding certain 

communications when issued in advance of the time that such communications 

are to occur."' In re Marriage of Suggs, 152 Wn.2d 74, 81, 93 P.3d 161 (2004) 

27 8 CP at 3353 (boldface omitted). 
28 See Kirshenbaum v. Kirshenbaum, 84 Wn. App. 798, 806-07, 929 P.2d 1204 (1997). 
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(internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Alexander v. United States, 509 U.S. 

544, 550, 113 S. Ct. 2766, 125 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1193)). 

Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. In re Suggs, 152 Wn.2d 

at 79. 

Here, Jessica posted a picture of her and the children to her GoFundMe 

online account, which also described the children as victims of domestic abuse.29 

The trial court ordered Jessica to immediately remove the children's images from 

her GoFundMe online account. 

The trial court's order did not constitute an unconstitutional prior restraint of 

speech. The trial court's order was confined to Jessica's present use of the 

children's images on her GoFundMe online account. Further, the trial court's order 

does not apply to Jessica's use of the children's images on other platforms or in 

other contexts, presently or in the future. Thus, we conclude that the trial court's 

order does not constitute an unconstitutional prior restraint of speech.30•31 

Jessica - Attorney Fees on Appeal 

29 The description stated in part that the money was so that Jessica and the children could 
"relocate out of State to escape years of abuse. We are survivors of domestic violence." 
9 CP at 3665. The description also stated, "My children witnessed my abuse and they 
endured it as well." 9 CP at 3665. 
30 Jessica also argues that the trial court erred because her statements that the children 
had been abused by Brian were supported by the record and were therefore protected 
speech. But the trial court explicitly declined to make findings about whether the 
GoFundMe online account's description was defamatory towards Brian. Therefore, we 
decline to reach this issue. 
31 For the first time in her reply brief, Jessica argues that the trial court did not engage in 
sufficient inquiry to determine whether her use of the children's images was protected. 
Jessica also argues that the trial court did not conduct a balancing test between her 
freedom of expression and the State's parens patriae duties. "An issue raised and argued 
for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration." Cowiche Canyon 
Conservancy, 118 Wn.2d at 809; RAP 10.3(c). Thus, we decline to reach the merits of 
Jessica's arguments. 
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Jessica argues that she is entitled to her attorney fees on appeal under 

RCW 26.09.140. 

The court ... after considering the financial resources of both parties 
may order a party to pay a reasonable amount for the cost to the 
other party of maintaining or defending any [dissolution] proceeding 
... and for reasonable attorneys' fees ... , including sums for legal 
services rendered and costs incurred prior to the commencement of 
the proceeding or enforcement or modification proceedings after 
entry of judgment. 

Upon any appeal, the appellate court may, in its discretion, 
order a party to pay for the cost to the other party of maintaining the 
appeal and attorneys' fees in addition to statutory costs. 

RCW 26.09.140. 

Here, both parties submitted financial declarations to this court. Jessica 

declared that her net monthly income is $2,304.00 and her total monthly expenses 

following the parties' separation are $3,851.79. She also declared that her total 

attorney fees for the case are "$1275,122.00," with $53,000.00 currently 

outstanding.32 Jessica declares that her total available assets total $1,595.95. 

Brian declares that his net monthly income is $34,907.39. His total monthly 

expenses and payments for other debts following the parties' separation are 

$14,547.00. He has spent $142,940.00 in attorney fees. 

In its order denying in part and granting in part Jessica's motion for 

reconsideration regarding attorney fees, the trial court noted below that Jessica 

received $500,000.00 net after the sale of the family home, and received an 

additional $100,000.00 in cash from her parents as a loan. Jessica claimed that 

these funds were completely dissipated, but did not provide documentation of how 

32 Financial Deel. of Jessica Bodge at 5. It is unclear whether Jessica's total attorney costs 
are over $1,000,000.00 or there is an error in her financial declaration. 
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these funds were distributed. The trial court concluded that there was insufficient 

proof in the record of Jessica's need and that there was an inference of financial 

waste by Jessica. 

The parties' financial declarations demonstrate a disparity between 

Jessica's and Brian's monthly incomes. But on appeal Jessica has still not 

accounted for the funds that she received during litigation. Thus, we decline to 

award Jessica her attorney fees on appeal under RCW 26.09.140.33 

Brian - Attorney Fees on Appeal 

Brian requests his attorney fees on appeal based on Jessica's intransigence 

throughout this litigation. 

A party's intransigence may be a basis for an award of attorney fees to the 

opposing party. Chapman v. Perera, 41 Wn. App. 444,456, 704 P.2d 1224 (1985). 

"Intransigence includes foot dragging and obstruction, filing repeated unnecessary 

motions, or making the trial unduly difficult and costly by one's actions." In re 

Marriage of Bobbitt, 135 Wn. App. 8, 30, 144 P.3d 306 (2006). 

Here, Brian relies on Jessica's filing of motions to stay the trial court's 

enforcement actions to justify his request for attorney fees on appeal based on 

Jessica's intransigence.34 This is insufficient to justify an award of attorney fees 

33 Despite arguing that she is entitled to attorney fees on appeal under RCW 26.09.140, 
Jessica's arguments implicate the trial court's decision to not award her the majority of her 
attorney fees below. Jessica has explicitly stated that she is not contesting the trial court's 
denial of her request for attorney fees on appeal. Thus, we reject any arguments 
concerning the trial court's decision to deny Jessica's request for attorney fees below. 
34 Brian cites Jessica's actions below, including her "behavior and choices at trial that 
served to unnecessarily lengthen the time for trial and increase the litigation costs for 
[Brian]." Resp't's Br. at 48. But Brian has not challenged any decision of the trial court 
below regarding attorney fees and Jessica's intransigence. We reject Brian's citations to 
Jessica's actions below. 
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for intransigence. Jessica's motions presented debatable issues for consideration 

by a commissioner of this court and did not overly extend the length of this appeal. 

We reject Brian's argument. 

Brian also argues that he is entitled to attorney fees under RAP 18.9(a) 

because Jessica's appeal is frivolous. 

The appellate court has discretion to order a party "to pay terms or 

compensatory damages to any other party ... or to pay sanctions to the court" if 

the party files a frivolous appeal. RAP 18.9(a). '"[A]n appeal is frivolous if it raised 

no debatable issues on which reasonable minds might differ and it is so totally 

devoid of merit that no reasonable possibility of reversal exists."' Hanna v. 

Marqitan, 193 Wn. App. 596, 615, 373 P.3d 300 (2016) (quoting Protect the 

Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wn. App. 201, 220, 304 P.3d 914 

(2013)). 

Here, Jessica has raised debatable issues on appeal, such as whether the 

trial court impermissibly modified the parenting plan governing the parties and 

whether its findings of fact were supported by substantial evidence. We conclude 

that Jessica's appeal is not frivolous, and deny Brian's request for attorney fees on 

this basis. 

Brian states in the header for this section of his brief that he is entitled to an 

award of his appellate attorney fees as the prevailing party on appeal. But Brian 

does not provide further argument or cite to legal authority in support ofthis claim. 

We decline to grant Brian his attorney fees on appeal as the prevailing party. RAP 

10.3(a)(6). 
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Affirmed.35 

WE CONCUR: 

&, Ac-::::r 

35 On April 18, 2018, following oral argument, this court received a letter from Brian 
challenging factual assertions made by Jessica during oral argument. Jessica filed a 
response asking this court to not consider the contents of the letter and requesting 
sanctions against Brian for violation of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. We did not 
consider the contents of the April 18 letter when reaching our decision in this opinion, and 
deny Jessica's request for sanctions. 

28 



WESTERN WASHINGTON LAW GROUP, PLLC

December 26, 2018 - 9:04 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I
Appellate Court Case Number:   76954-5
Appellate Court Case Title: Jessica Lee Bodge, Appellant v. Brian Eugene Bodge, Respondent
Superior Court Case Number: 12-3-02727-9

The following documents have been uploaded:

769545_Petition_for_Review_20181226205433D1988846_6633.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Petition for Review 
     The Original File Name was PLDG 2018.12.26.FINAL First Amended Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

jessicabodge@msn.com
mj@jaycareylaw.com
robert@westwalaw.com

Comments:

First Amended

Sender Name: Lindsey Matter - Email: lindsey@westwalaw.com 
    Filing on Behalf of: Dennis John Mcglothin - Email: docs@westwalaw.com (Alternate Email:
dennis@westwalaw.com)

Address: 
7500 212th Street SW
Suite 207 
Edmonds, WA, 98026 
Phone: (425) 728-7296 EXT 1

Note: The Filing Id is 20181226205433D1988846

• 

• 
• 
• 




